
NOTICE OF IMMIGRATION CONSEQUENCES 
 
 If you are not a United States citizen, a plea of guilty to any offense, a conviction by trial verdict, or a 
youthful offender adjudication subjects you to a risk that adverse consequences will be imposed on you by the 
United States immigration authorities, including, but not limited to, removal from the United States, exclusion 
from admission to the United States, and/or denial of naturalization.  Because the immigration consequences 
applicable in your particular case may depend on factors such as your current immigration status, your length of 
residence in the United States, and your previous criminal history, you should consult with your attorney for 
advice specific to your circumstances. 
 
 The following are designated as deportable offenses under 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2), and any non-citizen 
convicted of such an offense (within the meaning of 8 U.S.C. § 1101[a][48]) “shall, upon order of the Attorney 
General, be removed” (8 U.S.C. § 1227[a]), regardless of whether the offense is a felony, a misdemeanor, or any 
other offense under State law: 

• any controlled substance or marihuana offense (other than a first offense involving 
possession for one’s own use of 30 grams or less of marihuana); 

• any offense involving a firearm, any domestic violence offense or violation of an order 
of protection, any stalking offense or crime of child abuse, and failure to register as a sex 
offender; 

• any offense designated an “aggravated felony” under 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43), including, 
but not limited to: murder; rape; any controlled substance or firearm trafficking offense; bail 
jumping; burglary, robbery, receipt of stolen property, or any other theft-related offense or 
crime of violence for which a sentence of one year or more is imposed; or any offense 
involving money laundering of more than $10,000 or fraud, deceit or tax evasion in which the 
loss to the victim(s) is more than $10,000; and 

• many other offenses described in 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2). 

 In addition, if the offense constitutes an “aggravated felony,” or if you are not a lawful permanent 
resident of the United States (or have not been such for at least five years with at least seven years’ continuous 
residency) and the offense is any deportable offense, there will be additional consequences, including, but not 
limited to, your ineligibility for discretionary cancellation of removal by the Attorney General.    
 



NOTIFICACIÓN SOBRE CONSECUENCIAS INMIGRATORIAS  
 
 Si usted no es ciudadano de los Estados Unidos, una declaración de culpabilidad por cualquier ofensa, 
un veredicto condenatorio mediante un juicio o una declaración como ofensor juvenil lo hará sujeto al riesgo de 
que las autoridades inmigratorias de los Estados Unidos le impongan consecuencias adversas, que incluyen, sin 
que estas se limiten a, su expulsión de Los Estados Unidos, exclusión de ser admitido a los Estados Unidos, y/o 
el rechazo de su solicitud para la ciudadanía o naturalización.  Debido a que las consecuencias de inmigración 
aplicables a su caso en particular pueden depender de factores como su estado de inmigración actual, el tiempo 
que lleva viviendo en los Estados Unidos y sus antecedentes penales, usted debe consultar a su abogado para 
asesoría específica a sus circunstancias. 
 
 Las siguientes ofensas han sido clasificadas como aquellas que implican deportación de acuerdo a la ley 
8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2), y cualquiera que no sea ciudadano y sea condenado por tal ofensa (como lo define la ley 8 
U.S.C. § 1101[a][48]) “deberá, bajo ordenes del Procurador General, ser expulsado” de los Estados Unidos (8 
U.S.C. §1227[a]), sin importar si la ofensa es un delito mayor, un delito menor, o cualquier otra ofensa según las 
leyes estatales: 

• cualquier ofensa por sustancias reguladas o marihuana (excepto la primera ofensa 
relacionada con posesión de 30 gramos de marihuana o menos para uso propio); 

• cualquier ofensa que incluya un arma de fuego, cualquier ofensa por violencia 
doméstica o violación de una orden de protección, cualquier ofensa por acechar o delito por 
maltrato de menores, e incumplimiento a registrarse como ofensor sexual; 

• cualquier ofensa clasificada como un “delito con agravante” de acuerdo a la ley 8 U.S.C. 
§ 1101(a)(43), incluyendo, y sin que estas se limiten a: homicidio; violación sexual; cualquier 
ofensa por tráfico de sustancias reguladas o de armas de fuego; huir estando bajo fianza, 
entrar sin autorización en propiedad ajena con la intención de cometer un crimen, robo, 
recepción de propiedad robada, o cualquier otra ofensa relacionada con robo o un delito de 
violencia por el cual se haya impuesto una condena de un año o más; o cualquier ofensa 
relacionada con el lavado de dinero por más de $10,000 o un fraude, estafa o evasión de 
impuestos en el que las pérdidas de la(s) víctima(s) sean mayores de $10,000; y 

• muchas otras ofensas descrita en la ley 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2). 

 Además, si la ofensa constituye un “delito con agravante”, o si usted no es un residente permanente de 
los Estados Unidos (o no lo ha sido por un mínimo de cinco años durante una estadía continua de siete años o 
más) y la ofensa es una que implica deportación, habrán consecuencias adicionales que incluyen, y sin que estas 
se limiten a, su inelegibilidad para la cancelación de su expulsión a discreción del Procurador General. 
 
 



關於犯罪對移民方面的影響的通訊 
 

 如果你不是美國公民，對任何刑事控訴認罪，被審判定罪，或被判為少年犯罪者，都有

可能會導致移民局對你做出不良的判斷，包括但不限於遞解出境，禁止入境，和/或入籍不批。

由於關乎你的移民方面的影響都隨著你的案件的情況和某因素而不同，例如你現今的身份，在

美居留時間，和你的犯罪記錄，你應該請教你的移民律師。 
 
 以下是根據美國聯邦律例的 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2) 
被稱爲可遞解出境的罪行。任何以這些罪名被定罪的非公民人士 ( 依照美國聯邦律例 8 U.S.C. § 
1101 [a][48] 的意思 
)，無論罪名是州制法律的重型，中型，或輕型罪行，“都將會以律師長的命令被遞解出境”(8 
U.S.C. § 1227 [a])： 
 

• 任何受管制物質或大麻罪行（除了首次違犯持有自己服用的30克或以下分量的大麻罪名

）。 
• 任何涉及槍械的罪行，任何家庭暴力或違反保護令的罪行，任何跟蹤或兒童虐待的罪行

，或性犯罪者忽略與政府登記。 
• 任何依照聯邦律例8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(43) 被稱爲 

“加重重刑罪”的罪行，包括但不限於：謀殺；強姦；任何受管制物質或槍械販運罪行；

被命令出庭而缺席；入屋犯法，搶劫，接受被竊贓物，其他涉及盜竊的罪行，或可被判

一年及以上的判刑的暴力罪行；或任何涉及超越 $10,000 
的錢財清洗罪行，欺詐，欺騙，或對受害人的損失超越 $10,000 逃繳稅款；及 

• 多項其他描述於美國聯邦律例8 U.S.C. § 1227 (a)(2) 的罪行。 
 

 此外，若果該罪行構成“加重重刑罪”，或若果你不是合法在美國居留的 ( 
或在美國不斷居留至少七年，其至少五年沒有合法居留權) 
而該罪行是任何一行可遞解的罪行的話，將會帶來其他的後果，包括但不限於失去律師長酌情

取消遞解令的資格。 
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THE GRAND JURY OF THE COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this indictment, accuses Stephen K. 

Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc., of the crime of MONEY LAUNDERING IN THE SECOND 

DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law § 470.15(1)(b)(i)(A), committed as follows: 

The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere during the period from on or about 

February 4, 2019, to on or about October 10, 2019, knowing that the property involved in one and more 

financial transactions, to wit, money donated to WeBuildTheWall, Inc. through a crowdfunding website,  

represented the proceeds of a Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree, conducted one and more such 

financial transactions, which in fact involved the proceeds of Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree, with 

intent to promote the carrying on of specified criminal conduct, to wit: Scheme to Defraud in the First 

Degree, and the total value of the property involved in such financial transaction and transactions exceeded 

one hundred thousand dollars. 

 

SECOND COUNT: 

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the defendants Stephen 

K. Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc., of the crime of MONEY LAUNDERING IN THE SECOND 

DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law § 470.15(1)(b)(ii)(A), committed as follows: 

The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere, during the period from on or about 



February 4, 2019, to on or about October 10, 2019, knowing that the property involved in one and more 

financial transactions, to wit, money donated to WeBuildTheWall, Inc. through a crowdfunding website, 

represented the proceeds of a Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree, conducted one and more such 

financial transactions, which in fact involved the proceeds of Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree, 

knowing that the transaction and transactions in whole and in part were designed to conceal and disguise 

the nature, the location, the source, the ownership and the control of the property, and the total value of 

the property involved in such financial transaction and transactions exceeded one hundred thousand 

dollars.  

 

THIRD COUNT: 

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, accuses the defendants Stephen K. 

Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc. of the crime of CONSPIRACY IN THE FOURTH DEGREE, in 

violation of Penal Law §105.10(1), committed as follows: 

 The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere, during the period from on or about 

January 11, 2019, to on or about October 10, 2019, with intent that conduct constituting a class C felony, to 

wit, Money Laundering in the Second Degree, Penal Law § 470.15(1)(b)(i)(A), be performed, agreed with 

one and more persons to engage in and cause the performance of such conduct. 

 



BACKGROUND 

  During the period of this conspiracy, an individual known to the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1”) was the President and Chief Executive Officer of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., a 501(c)(4) non-

profit with a goal of building a wall on the border between the United States and Mexico. During the 

period of the conspiracy, WeBuildTheWall, Inc., through Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 and others, engaged 

in a Scheme to Defraud in that, WeBuildTheWall, Inc., primarily through Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, 

solicited donations and raised money from donors throughout the United States, including several hundred 

from New York County, based on the false representation that none of the money donated to 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc. would be used to pay Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s salary.  Stephen K. Bannon 

(“Bannon”) was the Chairman of the Advisory Board for WeBuildTheWall, Inc., as well as the President of 

a different non-profit entity known to the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1”). Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator Entity 1 was a 501(c)(4) non-profit with the goal of promoting economic nationalism. The 

object of the conspiracy was to obscure the fact that, contrary to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s representations 

about Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 not taking a salary, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 was in fact receiving 

hundreds of thousands of dollars in compensation from WeBuildTheWall, Inc.  In order to obscure 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s salary, and with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified criminal 

conduct, to wit, the Scheme to Defraud, the defendants, and others, caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to 

transfer hundreds of thousands of dollars in proceeds of the Scheme to Defraud, to various third party 

entities, which then transferred a portion of the money received to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 



OPERATION OF THE SCHEME 

 Throughout the period of this conspiracy, WeBuildtheWall, Inc. solicited donations through a 

crowdfunding website known to the Grand Jury (“the Crowdfunding Website”). WeBuildtheWall, Inc. 

solicited donations through the Crowdfunding Website in messages published on the Crowdfunding 

Website, as well as in media appearances by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, Bannon, and others, as well as in 

emails to potential donors, updates to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s own website, and on social media. Starting 

on January 11, 2019, a key part of these solicitations was the promise that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 

would “personally not take a penny of compensation from these donations.” Donors, including hundreds 

from New York County, responded to these solicitations by donating to WeBuildTheWall, Inc., which 

obtained more than fifteen million dollars in proceeds.  

 The promise that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not be taking compensation was a material part 

of WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s fundraising effort. In text messages exchanged on or about December 30, 2018, 

between Bannon and a high-level WeBuildTheWall, Inc. affiliate and unindicted co-conspirator known to 

the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2”), Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 stated that if Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator 1 were to promise that he would not take a salary that it would be “the most talked about 

media narrative ever!” In text messages exchanged on or about January 11, 2019, Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 2 stated to Bannon that this promise “removes all self interest taint on this” and it “gives 

[Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] saint hood.” 



 In reality, the promise that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not be taking compensation was false. 

On January 11, 2019, the same date that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 began publicly representing that he 

would be taking no compensation, he stated in a text message to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 “Keep my 

pay confidential between only need to know.” WeBuildTheWall, Inc., acting in concert with Bannon, 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2, and others, was in fact paying Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 hundreds of 

thousands of dollars in compensation from money obtained through the Crowdfunding Website 

throughout 2019. In text messages sent on or about February 19, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 stated 

to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 that his salary “was $100k upfront then 20 [per] month.”  During the 

course of this conspiracy, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 received over two hundred and fifty thousand 

dollars in secret salary payments from WeBuildTheWall, Inc., despite the representations made in 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s fundraising solicitations that he was not taking a single penny. 

 

THE CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MONEY LAUNDERING 

 The object of the conspiracy was to promote WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s fraudulent efforts to raise money 

through donations by obscuring the fact that, contrary to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s representations about 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 not taking a salary, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 was in fact receiving 

hundreds of thousands of dollars in compensation from WeBuildTheWall, Inc.  In order to obscure 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s salary, and with intent to promote the carrying on of the Scheme to 

Defraud, the defendants WeBuildTheWall, Inc. and Bannon, and others, caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to 

transfer hundreds of thousands of dollars to various third-party entities, including entities controlled by 

Bannon and others, which would then transfer a portion of the money received to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1. 



 One such intermediary was Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1, which was a non-profit controlled by 

Bannon. WeBuildTheWall, Inc., Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, Bannon, and others, in furtherance of the 

conspiracy, agreed to use Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to accept money from WeBuildTheWall, 

Inc., and to use a portion of that money to pay Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. On or about January 11, 

2019, Bannon was informed in a text message from Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 that Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1 would be stating publicly that he would not be taking a penny from the donations. Bannon 

responded “[Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1] can pay him.”  On or about January 15, 2019, Bannon 

wrote in a text message to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 that there would be “[n]o deals I don’t approve; 

and I pay [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] so what’s to worry.”  On or about January 18, Bannon wrote an 

email to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 clarifying that “You want $100k to [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1.]” 

 Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 was not using its own money to pay Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

instead, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 paid Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 using money that it 

received from WeBuildTheWall, Inc.  In text messages exchanged on or about January 20, 2019, Bannon 

asked Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 “How is [Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1] going to get reimbursed 

???” and Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 responded “[Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1] gets reimbursed.” 

In text messages exchanged on or about January 29, 2019, Bannon told Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 “we 

need wire of cash to [Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1],” and Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 responded 

“K.” Less than a week later, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. wired $250,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1. 

 Following that, Bannon, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2, and others caused 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to wire $100,000 of those funds to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, the 

“upfront” payment for Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s confidential compensation agreement. In total, 

during the course of this conspiracy, Bannon, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 

and others directed Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to send at least $140,000 of funds it received from 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1.   

  



 

OVERT ACTS 

 In the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the conspirators committed and caused to be 

committed the following overt acts, among others: 

1. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transmitted a copy of its Amended and Restated 

Bylaws—which stated that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not take any salary for the performance 

of his duties as President—to the Crowdfunding Website in an effort to convince the Crowdfunding 

Website to release the money it had collected to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.; 

2. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 “will 

personally not take a penny of compensation from these donations;” 

3. On or about January 11, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 made a media appearance on behalf of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., on a program known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “This whole project, 

I won’t take a penny from these donations, not a penny. I won’t get paid from this corporation. 

Nothing.” and “All the [Crowdfunding Website] funds, not a penny of that goes towards me and I will 

not touch a penny of it;”  

4. On or about January 11, 2019, in response to an email sent to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 by a 

potential donor known to the Grand Jury asking “where will this money go? Who will manage it?” 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 responded “I have no salary or compensation for my work and it’s laid it 

[sic] in our bylaws. 100% of the funds go only to the border wall construction and our audit committee 

will oversight the entire thing;” 

5. On or about January 12, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 



“WILL NOT TAKE A PENNY IN SALARY OR COMPENSATION FOR [UNINDICTED CO-

CONSPIRATOR 1’S] WORK;” 

6. On or about January 13, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. posted to a public website known to the Grand 

Jury a video in which Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 stated “everyone who donates right now, your 

money goes towards this wall. 100% of your money goes towards the wall. It’s not going to line 

someone’s pocket. I’m taking zero dollars of a salary, no compensation. It’s going towards the wall;” 

7. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 posted a message on behalf of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “100% 

of the [Crowdfunding Website] funds go only to wall construction. 100% means 100% its [sic] an 

absolute value;” 

8. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

posted a message to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “I thought it 

was pretty clear. I made a promise that I would NEVER take a penny 100% of fundraising through 

[the Crowdfunding Website] donations will only go towards the wall, 100% means 100% right? Board 

won’t see any of that money! Donations will be accountable by an audit committee as well;” 

9. On or about January 19, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to the “frequently asked 

questions” page of its website in which it stated “How much is [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] getting 

paid? In accordance with [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s] personal pledge and the Bylaws of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] will not profit even a single penny from We 

Build the Wall, Inc;” 

10. On or about January 21, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 posted a message on a social media 

platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “While I work on this wall project remember I’m 

taking no salary and no compensation. Please suppprt [sic] my coffee company;” 

11. On or about February 4, 2019, Bannon caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to transfer $250,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1. 



12. On or about February 11, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer 

$100,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

13. On or about February 12, 2019, Bannon made a statement to a media outlet known to the Grand Jury 

that “I did this [work on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc.] kind of as a volunteer;” 

14. On or about March 7, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

15. On or about April 22, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

16. On or about April 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to a for-profit Entity known to 

the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2”); 

17. On or about April 26, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $25,000 to a for-profit 

entity known to the Grand Jury which was controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 (“Entity 1”). 

18. On or about May 1, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to pay off a balance on a credit card that 

belonged to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

19. On or about May 21, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $30,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

20. On or about June 5, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

21. On or about June 6, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

22. On or about June 24, 2019, at a fundraising event for WeBuildTheWall, Inc., Bannon stated 

“remember, all the money you give goes to building the wall;” 

23. On or about July 3, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $48,762 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

24. On or about July 15, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

25. On or about July 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 



26. On or about July 1, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to an account controlled by an 

associate of Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3”).  

27. On or about July 23, 2019, the account controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3 transferred 

$20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

28. On or about August 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $66,760.62 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2. 

29. On or about September 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

30. On or about September 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

31. On or about September 25, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $46,725.33 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2.  

32. On or about October 10, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $23,800 to Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator 1. 

 

FOURTH COUNT: 

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, accuses the defendants Stephen K. 

Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc. of the crime of CONSPIRACY IN THE FOURTH DEGREE, in 

violation of Penal Law §105.10(1), committed as follows: 

The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere, during the period from on or about 

January 11, 2019, to on or about October 10, 2019, with intent that conduct constituting a class C felony, to 

wit, Money Laundering in the Second Degree, Penal Law § 470.15(1)(b)(ii)(A), be performed, agreed with one 

and more persons to engage in and cause the performance of such conduct. 



OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY 

The object of the conspiracy was to obscure the fact that, contrary to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s 

representations about its President and CEO (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1”) not taking a salary, Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator 1 was in fact receiving hundreds of thousands of dollars in compensation from 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., a 501(c)(4) non-profit. During the period of the conspiracy, WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

through Bannon, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, and others, engaged in a Scheme to Defraud in that it solicited 

donations through a crowdfunding website known to the Grand Jury (“the Crowdfunding Website”) and did in 

fact raise money from donors throughout the United States, including several hundred from New York County, 

based on false representations regarding Unindicated Co-Conspirator 1’s compensation. In order to obscure 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s secret salary, and knowing that the transactions were designed to conceal and 

disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership and the control of the property, the defendants and 

others, including a high-level WeBuildTheWall, Inc. affiliate and unindicted co-conspirator known to the Grand 

Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2”), caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to transfer hundreds of thousands of 

dollars which constituted proceeds of specified criminal conduct, to wit, Scheme to Defraud, to various third 

party entities, including a non-profit entity known to the Grand Jury and controlled by Bannon (“Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator Entity 1”), which then transferred a portion of the money it received to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1. 

 

OVERT ACTS 

In the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the conspirators committed and caused to be 

committed the following overt acts, among others: 

1. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transmitted a copy of its Amended and Restated 

Bylaws—which stated that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not take any salary for the performance 

of his duties as President—to the Crowdfunding Website in an effort to convince the Crowdfunding 

Website to release the money it had collected to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.; 



2. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 “will 

personally not take a penny of compensation from these donations;” 

3. On or about January 11, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 made a media appearance on behalf of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., on a program known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “This whole project, 

I won’t take a penny from these donations, not a penny. I won’t get paid from this corporation. 

Nothing.” and “All the [Crowdfunding Website] funds, not a penny of that goes towards me and I will 

not touch a penny of it;”  

4. On or about January 11, 2019, in response to an email sent to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 by a 

potential donor known to the Grand Jury asking “where will this money go? Who will manage it?” 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 responded “I have no salary or compensation for my work and it’s laid it 

[sic] in our bylaws. 100% of the funds go only to the border wall construction and our audit committee 

will oversight the entire thing;” 

5. On or about January 12, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 

“WILL NOT TAKE A PENNY IN SALARY OR COMPENSATION FOR [UNINDICTED CO-

CONSPIRATOR 1’S] WORK;” 

6. On or about January 13, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. posted to a public website known to the Grand 

Jury a video in which Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 stated “everyone who donates right now, your 

money goes towards this wall. 100% of your money goes towards the wall. It’s not going to line 

someone’s pocket. I’m taking zero dollars of a salary, no compensation. It’s going towards the wall;” 

7. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 posted a message on behalf of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “100% 



of the [Crowdfunding Website] funds go only to wall construction. 100% means 100% its [sic] an 

absolute value;” 

8. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

posted a message to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “I thought it 

was pretty clear. I made a promise that I would NEVER take a penny 100% of fundraising through 

[the Crowdfunding Website] donations will only go towards the wall, 100% means 100% right? Board 

won’t see any of that money! Donations will be accountable by an audit committee as well;” 

9. On or about January 19, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to the “frequently asked 

questions” page of its website in which it stated “How much is [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] getting 

paid? In accordance with [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s] personal pledge and the Bylaws of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] will not profit even a single penny from We 

Build the Wall, Inc;” 

10. On or about January 21, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 posted a message on a social media 

platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “While I work on this wall project remember I’m 

taking no salary and no compensation. Please suppprt [sic] my coffee company;” 

11. On or about February 4, 2019, Bannon caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to transfer $250,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1. 

12. On or about February 11, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer 

$100,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

13. On or about February 12, 2019, Bannon made a statement to a media outlet known to the Grand Jury 

that “I did this [work on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc.] kind of as a volunteer;” 

14. On or about March 7, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

15. On or about April 22, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 



16. On or about April 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to a for-profit Entity known to 

the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2”); 

17. On or about April 26, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $25,000 to a for-profit 

Entity known to the Grand Jury which was controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 (“Entity 1”). 

18. On or about May 1, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to pay off a balance on a credit card that 

belonged to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

19. On or about May 21, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $30,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

20. On or about June 5, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

21. On or about June 6, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

22. On or about June 24, 2019, at a fundraising event for WeBuildTheWall, Inc., Bannon stated 

“remember, all the money you give goes to building the wall;” 

23. On or about July 3, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $48,762 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

24. On or about July 15, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

25. On or about July 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

26. On or about July 1, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to an account controlled by an 

associate of Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3”).  

27. On or about July 23, 2019, the account controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3 transferred 

$20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

28. On or about August 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $66,760.62 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2. 

29. On or about September 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

30. On or about September 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 



31. On or about September 25, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $46,725.33 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2.  

32. On or about October 10, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $23,800 to Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator 1. 

 

FIFTH COUNT: 

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the defendants Stephen 

K. Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc. of the crime of SCHEME TO DEFRAUD IN THE FIRST 

DEGREE, in violation of Penal Law § 190.65(1)(a), committed as follows: 

The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere, during the period from on or about 

January 11, 2019, to on or about December 31, 2019, engaged in a scheme constituting an systematic ongoing 

course of conduct with intent to defraud ten and more persons and to obtain property from ten and more 

persons by false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and so obtained property from one 

and more of such persons. 

 

SIXTH COUNT: 

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuses the defendants Stephen 

K. Bannon and WeBuildTheWall, Inc. of the crime of CONSPIRACY IN THE FIFTH DEGREE, in 

violation of Penal Law §105.05(1), committed as follows: 

 The defendants, in the County of New York and elsewhere, during the period from on or about 

January 11, 2019, to on or about December 31, 2019, with intent that conduct constituting a felony, to wit, 

Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree, Penal Law § 190.65(1)(a), be performed, agreed with one and more 

persons to engage in and cause the performance of such conduct. 



THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD 

 Throughout the period of this conspiracy, WeBuildtheWall, Inc. solicited donations through a 

crowdfunding website known to the Grand Jury (“the Crowdfunding Website”), in messages published on the 

Crowdfunding Website, as well as in media appearances by an individual known to the Grand Jury who served 

as President and Chief Executive Officer of WeBuildTheWall, Inc. (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1”), Bannon, 

and others, as well as in emails to potential donors, updates to We Build the Wall’s own website, and on social 

media. Starting on January 11, 2019, a key part of these solicitations was the promise that Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1 would “personally not take a penny of compensation from these donations.” Donors, including 

hundreds from New York County, responded to these solicitations by donating to WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

which obtained more than fifteen million dollars in proceeds.  

The promise that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not be taking compensation was a material part of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s fundraising effort. In text messages exchanged on or about December 30, 2018, 

between Bannon and a high-level WeBuildTheWall, Inc. affiliate and unindicted co-conspirator known to the 

Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2”), Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 stated that if Unindicted Co-

Conspirator 1 were to promise that he would not take a salary that it would be “the most talked about media 

narrative ever!” In text messages exchanged on or about January 11, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 stated 

to Bannon that this promise “removes all self interest taint on this” and it “gives [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] 

saint hood.” 

 However, contrary to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.’s repeated representations that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

1 would not receive compensation, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 in fact received over two-hundred and fifty 

thousand dollars in payments from funds that had been donated to WeBuildTheWall, Inc. through the 

Crowdfunding Website.  



OVERT ACTS 

 In the course of and in furtherance of the conspiracy, the conspirators committed and caused to be 

committed the following overt acts, among others: 

1. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transmitted a copy of its Amended and Restated 

Bylaws—which stated that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 would not take any salary for the performance 

of his duties as President—to the Crowdfunding Website in an effort to convince the Crowdfunding 

Website to release the money it had collected to WeBuildTheWall, Inc.; 

2. On or about January 11, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 “will 

personally not take a penny of compensation from these donations;” 

3. On or about January 11, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 made a media appearance on behalf of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., on a program known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “This whole project, 

I won’t take a penny from these donations, not a penny. I won’t get paid from this corporation. 

Nothing.” and “All the [Crowdfunding Website] funds, not a penny of that goes towards me and I will 

not touch a penny of it;”  

4. On or about January 11, 2019, in response to an email sent to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 by a 

potential donor known to the Grand Jury asking “where will this money go? Who will manage it?” 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 responded “I have no salary or compensation for my work and it’s laid it 

[sic] in our bylaws. 100% of the funds go only to the border wall construction and our audit committee 

will oversight the entire thing;” 

5. On or about January 12, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to its Crowdfunding Website 

page—which caused an update message to be emailed to donors, including donors located in the 

County and State of New York—which included the statement that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 



“WILL NOT TAKE A PENNY IN SALARY OR COMPENSATION FOR [UNINDICTED CO-

CONSPIRATOR 1’S] WORK;” 

6. On or about January 13, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. posted to a public website known to the Grand 

Jury a video in which Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 stated “everyone who donates right now, your 

money goes towards this wall. 100% of your money goes towards the wall. It’s not going to line 

someone’s pocket. I’m taking zero dollars of a salary, no compensation. It’s going towards the wall;” 

7. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

posted a message to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “100% of the 

[Crowdfunding Website] funds go only to wall construction. 100% means 100% its [sic] an absolute 

value;” 

8. On or about January 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

posted a message to a social media platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “I thought it 

was pretty clear. I made a promise that I would NEVER take a penny 100% of fundraising through 

[the Crowdfunding Website] donations will only go towards the wall, 100% means 100% right? Board 

won’t see any of that money! Donations will be accountable by an audit committee as well;” 

9. On or about January 19, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. published an update to the “frequently asked 

questions” page of its website in which it stated “How much is [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] getting 

paid? In accordance with [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1’s] personal pledge and the Bylaws of 

WeBuildTheWall, Inc., [Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] will not profit even a single penny from We 

Build the Wall, Inc;” 

10. On or about January 21, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 posted a message on a social media 

platform known to the Grand Jury in which he stated “While I work on this wall project remember I’m 

taking no salary and no compensation. Please suppprt [sic] my coffee company;” 

11. On or about February 4, 2019, Bannon caused WeBuildTheWall, Inc. to transfer $250,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1. 



12. On or about February 11, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer 

$100,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

13. On or about February 12, 2019, Bannon made a statement to a media outlet known to the Grand Jury 

that “I did this [work on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc.] kind of as a volunteer;” 

14. On or about March 7, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

15. On or about April 22, 2019, Bannon caused Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 1 to transfer $20,000 to 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

16. On or about April 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to a for-profit Entity known to 

the Grand Jury (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2”); 

17. On or about April 26, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $25,000 to a for-profit 

Entity known to the Grand Jury which was controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 (“Entity 1”). 

18. On or about May 1, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to pay off a balance on a credit card that 

belonged to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1; 

19. On or about May 21, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $30,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

20. On or about June 5, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

21. On or about June 6, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

22. On or about June 24, 2019, at a fundraising event for WeBuildTheWall, Inc., Bannon stated 

“remember, all the money you give goes to building the wall;” 

23. On or about July 3, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $48,762 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 

Entity 2.  

24. On or about July 15, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

25. On or about July 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 



26. On or about July 1, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $50,000 to an account controlled by an 

associate of Unindicted Co-Conspirator 2 (“Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3”).  

27. On or about July 23, 2019, the account controlled by Unindicted Co-Conspirator 3 transferred 

$20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

28. On or about August 22, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $66,760.62 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2. 

29. On or about September 13, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $20,000 to Entity 1.  

30. On or about September 17, 2019, Entity 1 transferred $20,000 to Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1. 

31. On or about September 25, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. transferred $46,725.33 to Unindicted Co-

Conspirator Entity 2.  

32. On or about October 10, 2019, Unindicted Co-Conspirator Entity 2 transferred $23,800 to Unindicted 

Co-Conspirator 1. 

33. On or about December 2, 2019, WeBuildTheWall, Inc. filed a Registration Statement for Charitable 

Organizations with the New York State Office of the Attorney General, which reiterated the false 

promise that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1, the President of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., would not take any 

compensation. 



34. On or about December 31, 2019, while WeBuildTheWall, Inc. was still taking donations and 

representing that Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 was not receiving a salary from WeBuildTheWall, Inc., 

Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1 stated on behalf of WeBuildTheWall, Inc., in a public media appearance 

that “[Unindicted Co-Conspirator 1] would have to be the stupidest person in the world to do anything 

wrong with [the money raised by WeBuildTheWall, Inc.] with everyone watching me. I mean we see it 

all the time, but this is on like a grandioso [sic] scale of, you know, what not to do with the money, and 

I made sure that we were good stewards to it and followed through on that promise.”  

 

 

  

        ALVIN L. BRAGG, JR.  
        District Attorney  
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  THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
    
  -against- 
    
  STEPHEN K. BANNON, 

WEBUILDTHEWALL, INC., 
Defendants.   

    
    
  INDICTMENT 
    

MONEY LAUNDERING IN THE SECOND DEGREE, P.L. §470.15(1)(b)(i)(A) – BOTH DEFENDANTS 
MONEY LAUNDERING IN THE SECOND DEGREE, P.L. §470.15(1)(b)(ii)(A) – BOTH DEFENDANTS 
CONSPIRACY IN THE FOURTH DEGREE, P.L. §105.10(1) – BOTH DEFENDANTS (2 COUNTS) 
SCHEME TO DEFRAUD IN THE FIRST DEGREE, P.L. §190.65(1) – BOTH DEFENDANTS 
CONSPIRACY IN THE FIFTH DEGREE, P.L. § 105.05(1) – BOTH DEFENDANTS 

 
   
    
   ALVIN L. BRAGG, JR., District Attorney  
    
    A True Bill 
Daniel Passeser    
Michael Frantel 
Gregory Morril 
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